In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSUE MORALES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S228030

SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT 16 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G051142
Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 13WF3934
The Honorable Christopher Evans, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether excess custody credits can be used to reduce or eliminate one-year Proposition 47 parole under Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (d).

INTRODUCTION

In March 2014, defendant and appellant Josue Morales pleaded guilty to possession of a controlled substance, and the trial court imposed a 16month prison term. He was released to three years of postrelease community supervision (PRCS) in August 2014. After Proposition 47 was passed in November 2014, Morales filed a petition to be resentenced to a misdemeanor. The trial court granted the petition, resentencing Morales to a shorter term of imprisonment and imposing Proposition 47 parole, which, under Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (d), extends for one year. The court rejected Morales' argument that because the time he had already spent in custody exceeded his new, shorter custody term, excess custody credits under section 2900.5 should be applied to reduce or eliminate his Proposition 47 parole term. On appeal, the Court of Appeal reversed. holding that excess credits under section 2900.5 apply to Proposition 47 parole, and that Morales' parole term should therefore be reduced by the amount of custody time he served that was in excess of his new custody term.

The Court of Appeal's opinion should be reversed. Under the plain language of section 1170.18, subdivision (d), a person serving a sentence, who is resentenced to a misdemeanor under subdivision (b), must serve a one-year parole term if the trial court, in its discretion, decides to impose parole. Nothing in the statute provides for credits against the parole term,

All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

and any such credits would conflict with the mandatory statutory language requiring a one-year parole term. To the extent there is any ambiguity, the issue is definitively resolved by the voter information guide, which promised voters that resentenced defendants would be required to serve one year of parole—a guarantee that was likely critical to voters' decision to enact Proposition 47. The Court of Appeal's contrary view was in error.

BACKGROUND

A. Statutory Background

This case concerns the interaction between the resentencing provisions of Proposition 47 and two other statutory schemes: the general custody credit provisions of Penal Code section 2900.5, and the Public Safety Realignment Act's provisions for PRCS.

1. Proposition 47

Proposition 47, the "Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act," was enacted on November 4, 2014. (*People v. Rivera* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 1085, 1089.) For offenders meeting statutory criteria, Proposition 47 converted certain drug and theft-related offenses, which had previously been designated as either felonies or "wobblers," into misdemeanors. (*Id.* at p. 1091.)² It also added to the Penal Code section 1170.18, which controls the retroactive applicability of this change to those sentenced before Proposition 47's enactment.

Section 1170.18 distinguishes between those who have already completed their felony sentences, and those still serving those sentences. Under section 1170.18, subdivision (f), an eligible person who has "completed his or her sentence" for an offense that Proposition 47 changed

² A "wobbler" is a crime that "can be punished as either a felony or a misdemeanor." (*People v. Rivera*, supra, 233 Cal.App.4th at p. 1091.)

from a felony to a misdemeanor may file an application to have the felony conviction designated as a misdemeanor. (§ 1170.18, subd. (f); see *People v. Shabazz* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 303, 310-311.) Subdivision (f) makes no mention of parole.

In contrast, resentencing proceedings for defendants "currently serving" a felony sentence are covered by subdivisions (a) through (e). When such a defendant petitions for resentencing, "the petitioner's felony sentence shall be recalled and the petitioner resentenced to a misdemeanor ... unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the petitioner would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (§ 1170.18, subds. (a), (b).) Subdivision (d) specifies that, if resentencing is granted, the defendant "shall be given credit for time served and shall be subject to parole for one year following completion of his or her sentence, unless the court, in its discretion, as part of its resentencing order, releases the person from parole." (§ 1170.18, subd. (d).) Subdivision (e) states that "[u]nder no circumstances may resentencing under this section result in the imposition of a term longer than the original sentence." (§ 1170.18, subd. (e).) And subdivision (m) provides that, "[n]othing in this section is intended to diminish or abrogate any rights or remedies otherwise available to the petitioner or the applicant." (§ 1170.18, subd. (m).)

2. Custody credits under Penal Code section 2900.5

Section 2900.5, which was enacted in 1971, states that:

(a) In all felony and misdemeanor convictions, ... when the defendant has been in custody, ... all days of custody ... credited to the period of confinement pursuant to Section 4019, ... shall be credited upon his or her term of imprisonment.... If the total number of days in custody exceeds the number of days of the term of imprisonment to be imposed, the entire term of imprisonment shall be deemed to have been served. In any case where the court has imposed both a prison or jail term of imprisonment and a fine, any days to be credited to the defendant shall first be applied to the term of imprisonment

imposed, and thereafter the remaining days, if any, shall be applied to the fine.... $[\P]$

(c) For the purposes of this section, 'term of imprisonment' includes any ... period of imprisonment prior to release on parole and any period of imprisonment and parole, prior to discharge....

A criminal defendant is entitled to actual custody credit for time served in county jail before sentencing for the same conduct. (§ 2900.5, subd. (a); *People v. Buckhalter* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 20, 30.) In general, section 2900.5 credits apply against both the period of incarceration and the period of parole. (§ 2900.5, subds. (a), (c); *In re Ballard* (1981) 115 Cal.App.3d 647, 650; *In re Sosa* (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 1002, 1006.) The legislative purpose was "to eliminate the unequal treatment suffered by indigent defendants who, because of their inability to post bail, served a longer overall confinement than" defendants with greater wealth. (*In re Rojas* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 152, 156.) Such presentence excess custody credits are distinguished from presentence "conduct credits" which are earned by performing assigned labor and complying with rules and regulations. (§ 4019, subds. (b) & (c); see generally § 2900.5, subd. (a); *People v. Buckhalter, supra*, 26 Cal.4th at p. 30; *People v. Sage* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 498, 508-509.)

3. Parole and PRCS

Under the 2011 realignment legislation, including the Postrelease Community Supervision Act, those released from prison are subject to either parole (§ 3000 et seq.) or PRCS (§ 3450 et seq.). (*People v. Armogeda* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 428, 434.)

PRCS is reserved for those who do not fall into certain enumerated categories of high-risk offenders. (§ 3451, subd. (b); *People v. Armogeda*, *supra*, 233 Cal.App.4th at p. 434.) PRCS is mandatory, not discretionary,

and can last for up to three years. (§ 3451, subd. (a); *People v. Tubbs* (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 578, 586.) Unlike when a person is on parole, the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation has no jurisdiction over a person on PRCS, and a person cannot be returned to prison for a violation of PRCS. (§§ 3457, 3458; *People v. Espinoza* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 635, 639.)

B. Morales' Crime and Initial Sentence

Morales' crime and initial sentencing occurred before the passage of Proposition 47. In 2013, he was found in possession of heroin and a syringe. (CT 17.) On March 20, 2014, he pleaded guilty to possession of heroin in violation of Health & Safety Code, section 11350, subdivision (a). (CT 1-2, 8, 14-18; June 26, 2015, Court of Appeal slip opinion (Slip opn.), p. 2.) On April 10, 2014, the trial court imposed a 16-month prison term. (CT 10-11, 22; Slip opn., p. 2.) Although Morales admitted to having prior prison terms and prior strikes (CT 14, 19), the trial court followed the plea agreement's recommendation to strike those priors. (CT 11, 21; RT 3-4 (Apr. 10).) Morales was awarded 110 days of custody credits and 110 days of conduct credits, totaling 220 days. (CT 10.) In August 2014, he

³ Morales also pled guilty to possessing the syringe. (*Ibid.*) That conviction is not at issue here.

The two Reporter's Transcripts (RT) in this case require some explanation. One RT, dated November 18, 2014, consists of six pages transcribing that date's morning and afternoon hearings in case number R-02612, the PRCS case number related to Morales' original conviction, superior court case number 13WF3934. The second RT, dated April 10, 2014 and November 18, 2014, consists of nine pages. The April 10 portion, found at pages one through six, contains Morales' original, pre-Proposition 47 sentencing. The November 18 portion, found at pages seven to nine, is the same transcript as the November 18 afternoon transcript in the other RT, but is preceded by a cover page bearing an erroneous case number (13NF3751).

was released from prison into PRCS for a period of three years. (Slip opn., p. 2.)

C. Morales' Proposition 47 Resentencing

After Proposition 47 passed, Morales, on November 18, 2014, filed a petition seeking to have his possession of heroin conviction reduced to a misdemeanor under section 1170.18, subdivision (a). (CT 24.) The court granted Morales' petition and recalled his felony sentence. The court resentenced him to 365 days in jail, with the entire amount credited as time served. (RT 5; CT 13.) The parties disagreed about whether Morales should also be sentenced to parole. (RT 7-8.) The People's position was that, in light of Morales' prior robbery conviction, "he should remain supervised" after release. (RT 8; see *ibid*. [referring to Morales' "211 strike"]; § 211 [robbery statute].) Morales objected to the supervision, saying that the "underlying sentence of 16 months" was "sufficient for the charge." (RT 7.) The court imposed one year of "parole pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.18(d)." (CT 13; Slip opn., p. 2.)

D. The Court of Appeal's Opinion

On appeal, Morales contended, among other things, that under section 2900.5, his excess custody credits, known as *Sosa* credits, should be applied against his parole term. (Slip. opn., pp. 2, 7; see *In re Sosa*, *supra*, 102 Cal.App.3d at p. 1006.)

The Court of Appeal agreed. (Slip opn., pp. 8-10.) The court noted that Proposition 47 instructs that a person resentenced under section 1170.18, subdivision (d) and not released from parole "shall be subject to parole for one year." (Id. at p. 8.) The court interpreted this as meaning that such a person was subject to all preexisting background rules governing parole, including a "general rule" requiring that excess custody be credited towards a reduction in parole. (Ibid.) The court declined to

follow a published opinion of the Second District reaching the opposite conclusion. The Court of Appeal accordingly remanded the case to the trial court with instructions to recalculate Morales' parole period. (*Id.* at p. 11.) The Court of Appeal also ordered that excess credits be applied against Morales' fines. (*Id.* at pp. 10-11).⁵

On August 26, 2015, this court granted the People's petition for review in Morales' case, and granted and held the contrary case from the Second District. (See *People v. Hickman*, No. S227964.)⁶

/// ///

///

Based on the Court of Appeal's opinion, on July 25, 2015, the trial court applied 16 months of excess custody credits, reducing Morales' parole period to eight months. Because the eight months had ended on June 18, Morales was immediately discharged from parole. The trial court also reduced Morales' sentence from 365 to 364 days—the maximum misdemeanor sentence under section 18.5. The trial court's action was unauthorized because the Court of Appeal still had jurisdiction over the matter. (*People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 545, 554; *People v. Scarbrough* (Sept. 29, 2015, C075414) __ Cal.App.4th __ [2015 WL 5692824].) Counsel for the People were not aware of these trial court rulings until receiving a copy of the superior court's order from Morales' counsel in September 2015.

Morales' discharge from parole does not render this matter moot, because the issue in this case is likely to recur while evading appellate review and involves a matter of public interest. (*People v. Cheek* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 894, 897-898.) The issue is likely to recur, because, under Proposition 47, defendants have until November 2017, to file petitions for recall of sentence. (§ 1170.18, subd. (j).) Many Proposition 47 resentencings are likely to involve allegations of excess custody credits, because by the time Proposition 47 resentencings occur, many offenders will have served longer than their 364-day maximum misdemeanor sentences. And this issue is of great public interest given the high number of Proposition 47 cases throughout the state and the conflict between this case and the *Hickman* case.

ARGUMENTS

I. CREDITS UNDER SECTION 2900.5 DO NOT APPLY TO PROPOSITION 47 PAROLE UNDER THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF SECTION 1170.18, SUBDIVISION (D).

The interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by rules similar to those that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature. (*People v. Johnson* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 674, 682.) The language is construed, "giving the words their ordinary meaning." (*Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 901.) Statutory language is construed "in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme [in light of the electorate's intent]." (*Ibid.* [alteration in original]) Where the language is ambiguous, the court looks to "other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet." (*Ibid.*) Ultimately, the court's duty is to "interpret and apply the initiative's language so as to effectuate the electorate's intent." (*Ibid.*) Issues of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. (*Goodman v. Lozano* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1327, 1332.)

A. The Statute's Mandatory Terms Must Be Followed

Section 1170.18, subdivision (d), states:

A person who is resentenced pursuant to subdivision (b) shall be given credit for time served and shall be subject to parole for one year following completion of his or her sentence, unless the court, in its discretion, as part of its resentencing order, releases the person from parole. Such person is subject to section 3000.08 parole supervision by the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation and the jurisdiction of the court in the county in which the parolee is released or resides, or in which an alleged violation of supervision has occurred, for the purpose of hearing petitions to revoke parole and impose a term of custody.

The first sentence specifies that two things must occur when a defendant is resentenced to a misdemeanor: the defendant "shall be given credit for time served;" and the defendant "shall be subject to parole for one

year following completion of his or her sentence" unless the court in its discretion elects to release the defendant from parole entirely. The fact that the word "shall" appears twice—preceding each of these requirements—makes clear that each requirement is mandatory. (See *Common Cause of California v. Board of Supervisors* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 432, 443 [under "well-settled principle of statutory construction," the word "shall" is "ordinarily construed as mandatory"].) The third sentence of subdivision (d) specifies, additionally, that the resentenced defendant "is subject to section 3000.08 parole supervision." Once again, the verb ("is") makes clear that parole supervision does not depend on any contingencies. The statute thus imposes three mandatory requirements, which can all be satisfied only if the trial court, when resentencing a defendant, credits previously served custody time against further custody time, but not against parole time.

Judge Couzens and Justice Bigelow, in their comprehensive analysis of Proposition 47, agree with this natural interpretation of the statutory language:

It appears the intent of the initiative is to authorize the one-year period of parole supervision *in addition to* any resentence imposed by the court, and without consideration of any credit that the petitioner may have earned.... Because the parole term is in addition to the basic misdemeanor sentence, the petitioner will not be allowed to apply excess custody credits to satisfy the supervision period.

Fection 1170.18, subdivision (e) further provides that "resentencing under this section" may not "result in the imposition of a term longer than the original sentence." (§ 1170.18, subd. (e).) That has been interpreted as forbidding the resentencing court from imposing "a parole period longer than the remainder of [the] defendant's PRCS period." (*People v. Pinon* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1232, 189 Cal.Rptr. 920, 924.) But that rule was not the basis of the Court of Appeal's decision, and is not implicated in this case: Morales' resentencing under Proposition 47 occurred when he had served only a few months of his three-year PRCS term. (See slip opn., p. 2.)

(Couzens & Bigelow, Proposition 47 "The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act" (February 2015), pp. 56-57 [italics in original].)

This analysis is sound, and the Court of Appeal's view, which fails to give effect to the statute's mandatory terms, must be rejected.

B. The Court of Appeal's Contrary Arguments Are Unconvincing

In rejecting the plain-language reading explained above, the Court of Appeal relied on a variety of other interpretive approaches. Those approaches, however, cannot defeat the statute's mandatory language. At most, they introduce a slight ambiguity, which (as further explained in Part II, below) the voter guide definitively resolves in favor of a one-year parole period not subject to custody credits.

The Court of Appeal believed that custody credits must be applied because subdivision (d) uses the term "subject to" parole. (Slip. opn., p. 8.) But the use of this term cuts the other way. At most, the phrase "subject to" was intended simply to reinforce the resentencing court's statutory discretion to choose not to place certain people on parole—a power that says nothing about whether a court that would choose to impose parole on a particular defender should be prevented from doing so based on excess custody credits stemming from the reduction in the custodial sentence. More likely, the term "subject to parole" echoes the term's use in section 3000.08, subdivision (a), which specifies who is "subject to parole supervision"—a usage that implies that the person is actually serving parole. Such an interpretation would be consistent with the information given to voters, which, as described in Part II below, assured them that resentenced offenders would actually serve parole.

The Court of Appeal correctly noted that Proposition 47 does not specify that parole will apply "notwithstanding any other law." (Slip opn., p. 9.) From this observation, however, the Court of Appeal incorrectly

concluded that Proposition 47 therefore required different treatment from a parole statute that does include such a "notwithstanding" phrase—the Proposition 36 provision at issue in *People v. Espinoza* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 635. (See slip. opn., p. 9.) But there was no need to include such a proviso in the Proposition 47 context, because the statute already uses the word "shall." Having already provided specific, mandatory language concerning parole, the drafters had no reason to specify in other terms that that language must be given effect over a general provision appearing elsewhere in the Penal Code. (*Bailey v. Superior Court* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 970, 976-977, fn. 8 [specific provisions relating to a particular subject govern over general provisions].)

Nor do section 2900.5 excess custody credits relate to the problem that Proposition 47 addresses. Section 2900.5 credits are designed to remedy a particular injustice: "the unequal treatment suffered by indigent defendants who, because of their inability to post bail, served a longer overall confinement than their wealthier counterparts." (*In re Rojas, supra*, 23 Cal.3d at p. 156.) This need to prevent unequal treatment for indigents is not implicated where a defendant claims credit based not on an inability to make bail during presentencing custody, but rather on the fact that his legitimate prison sentence was afterwards reduced via an act of mercy and grace. Because section 2900.5 credits are obviously inapposite to the particular goals served by Proposition 47, there was no need for the drafters to specify that voter-enacted mandatory parole would take precedence.

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