#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSUE VARGAS MORALES,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT NO. S228030

APPELLATE COURT NO. G051142

SUPERIOR COURT NO. 13WF3934

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA COUNTY OF ORANGE

Honorable Christopher Evans, Commissioner

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 1 3 2015

#### **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Frank A. Mossuire Clerk Deputy

Christian C. Buckley, SBN 216998 Buckley & Buckley 9921 Carmel Mountain Rd. #355 San Diego, CA 92129 (858) 538-6054 ccbuckley75@gmail.com

By appointment of the Supreme Court under Appellate Defenders, Inc. Assisted Case System

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

Respondent also tries to avoid the implications of section 1170.18, subdivision (m)'s express statement that "Nothing in this section is intended to diminish or abrogate any rights or remedies otherwise available to the petitioner or applicant" by arguing that the language is irrelevant because it refers only to a remedy or right that "springs from a source other than section 1170.18." (OBM 11.) This argument fails because the right to apply excess custody credits to parole comes from a variety of sources, all extrinsic to section 1170.18.

Finally, as discussed by the court of appeal, section 1170.18 does not include any express language stating that the existing parole credit laws do not apply. (Opinion pp. 8-10.) For example, the law does not state that "Notwithstanding any other provision of the law a person released from

custody under section 1170.18, subdivision (d), shall be subject to a full year of parole."

In this way, the law clearly deviates from Proposition 36, which expressly stated in section 3451, subdivision (a) that "Notwithstanding any other provision of law...all persons released from prison... for a period not exceeding three years...shall...be subject to community supervision...." The phrase, "[n]otwithstanding any other law" is all encompassing, eliminates potential conflicts between alternative sentencing schemes, and was central to the determination that credits did not apply to PRCS. (See *Espinoza* at pp. 639-640.)

Respondent asserts that there was no need to include the above type of language because the drafters of the statute had already intentionally included the very clear "shall" statement that implied the existing parole credit laws did not apply. (OBM 10-11.) This is implausible given the historic use of the "notwithstanding" phraseology and its clear judicial interpretations. Given the implications and importance of denying the application of credits to parole, it is doubtful that the drafters would have chosen to stake the issue on a vague use of the word "shall" rather than an express use of the phrase "[n]otwithstanding any other law" which had recently been clearly construed as precluding the application of credits to PRCS. (See *Espinoza* at pp. 639-640.)

Respondent's pure speculation is also defeated by the mere fact that we are before this Court. If the statute clearly stated that the all of the authority authorizing the application of credits to parole did not apply in this context then there would be no split in authority or need for review. To the contrary, it is respondent that attempts to imbue the single word "shall" with the additional meaning that none of the other laws applying to credits apply here.

For the above stated reasons, respondent's interpretations convolute the statute by adding implied meaning to a single isolated word. As such, they should be rejected.

C. Because the statute is clear and should be interpreted in accordance with the law in effect at the time it was passed, no consideration of voter intent is necessary.

Respondent contends that *if* there is ambiguity in the statute, then the voter intent clearly supports a conclusion that a full year of mandatory parole was contemplated. Appellant maintains that there is no need to resort to the limited information available regarding voter intent, but even if such intent is considered, it is not as clear cut as respondent asserts.

Where an ambiguity exists in a statue, courts may resort to legislative history and other extrinsic evidence and principles of statutory construction in an attempt to resolve the ambiguity:

[I]f the terms of the statute provide no definitive answer, then courts may resort to extrinsic sources, including the objects to

be achieved. . . . When the statutory language is ambiguous, the court may examine the context in which the language appears, adopting the construction that best harmonizes the statute internally and with related statutes. . . . Both the legislative history of the statute and the wider historical circumstances of its enactment may be considered in ascertaining the legislative intent. (County of Santa Clara v. Perry (1998) 18 Cal.4th 435, 442 (citations omitted).)

Where, as here, the statute in question is an initiative enacted by the voters, courts must look to the arguments set forth by its proponents, including those set forth in the statement of purpose and the ballot pamphlet provided to voters. (*People v. Montes* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 350, 361; *see also*, *e.g.*, *People v. Floyd* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 187-88; *Davis v. City of Berkeley* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 227, 237 n.4 ["Ballot pamphlet arguments have long been recognized as a proper extrinsic aid in construing constitutional amendments adopted by popular vote"].)

Respondent is correct that the voter information related to Prop 47 indicated that prisoners who qualified for resentencing would "be required to be on state parole for one year." This makes sense because the statute, which was included in the information guide, explicitly provided for parole in most cases, unless the court exercised discretion to withhold the parole term. However, this isolated sentence in the ballot pamphlet begs the question of what it means to "be" on parole. Voters are presumed to know the law which clearly mandates that a defendant who is placed on parole be given credit against his or her parole term for excess time served in custody.

In any event, the parole language was not the primary focus of the voter information. The statement of purpose (*see* Historical and Statutory Notes to Government Code section 7599 provides, in its "Findings and Declarations" (section 2)) indicates that the initiative was being enacted among other reasons "to ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses [and] to maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime," while section 15 states that the initiative "shall be broadly construed to accomplish its purposes." Similarly, the argument in favor of Proposition 47 (*See* Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), pp. 34-39) states among other things that "Proposition 47 will "[r]educe prison spending and government waste" by "focus[ing] law enforcement dollars on violent and serious crimes."

It is important to remember that a legislative analyst's interpretation of a statute is a simplified summary of the measure in language intended to be understandable to the average voter. (See Elections Code 9080-9096.) Read with this understanding, it is clear that a voter would likely have understood that the main intent of Prop 47 to be the reduction of law enforcement spending on low grade offenders like appellant. While the concept of parole was included, it was not the focus of the law in any respect. As such, it is dubious that a reader would conclude that a full year of parole was intended to be mandatory in all cases under the law.

Respondent next argues that if the court of appeal opinion is affirmed then most Prop 47 petitioners will serve no parole. (OBM 14.) This claim is speculative. While it is true that defendants who have served long prison sentences for what are now misdemeanor offenses will likely serve no parole, a newly convicted defendant with little pre-sentence custody will likely not avoid parole.

Furthermore, it is entirely within the broader sprit of Prop 47 to shorten or eliminate the parole period for petitioners who have served the most time. Prop 47 created a manifest difference in the punishment suffered upon misdemeanants convicted of reclassified offenses on or after November 5, 2014, and felons convicted of those same crimes prior to that date. In many cases, the felons will likely have been incarcerated in prison longer than their post-Prop 47 misdemeanant counterparts could be confined in jail. By giving such persons, to the extent possible, full credit for long excess custody periods served for their now misdemeanor offense, fundamental fairness is achieved.

Respondent next suggests that if Prop 47 petitioners have a right to credit against the period of parole, more judges will likely deny petitions under section 1170.18, subdivision (b), by finding that the petitioner presents an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety. (OBM 14-15.) This is again pure speculation and highly unlikely for the simple fact that a

denial under such *pretense* would be illegal. Section 1170.18, subdivision (c) specifically defines the qualifying "unreasonable risk" as the risk that the petitioner will commit a new violent felony under section 667. It can hardly be asserted that the inability to impose a full year of parole on a misdemeanor offender equates to a finding that there is an unreasonable risk that the misdemeanor offender will commit a violent crime.

In sum, respondent's interpretive goal is to keep misdemeanor offenders on parole for as long as possible – despite them having served felony sentences for their misdemeanor crimes. This was never the intent of Prop 47. As highlighted by the court of appeal, violent offenders are not covered by the statute and truly dangerous offenders can be retained in custody. Only non-violent offenders who do not pose an unreasonable risk to the public will have their sentences recalled. The point of the law was to stop spending money on these types of offenders – not make sure we supervise them on parole for a full year.

# D. The grant of credits should not be limited to pre-sentence custody credits as requested for the first time on review by the People.

Respondent generally limits the discussion of credits to section 2900.5 pre-sentence custody credits. (OBM 3-4, 16-17.) In doing so, respondent makes the policy argument that because pre-sentence custody credits were designed to avoid the inequity of defendant's serving more

prison time if they lack the ability to post bail, they have no application here. (OBM 10-11.) Respondent then appears to assert that even if a defendant has a right to credit against the period of parole imposed under section 1170.18, that credit should be limited to pre-sentence custody credit. (OBM 16-17.) These arguments should be ignored and lack merit.

Preliminarily, it should be noted that respondent is now advancing a new position not presented in the court of appeal. Because respondent raises this issue for the first time in this Court, it makes the issue inappropriate for review because the court of appeal had no opportunity to review or rule upon the issue. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. (c)(1); *People v. Camacho* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 824, 837, fn 4.) Respondent also did not petition for review on this issue and therefore has forfeited the claim. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. (a)(2).) Appellant therefore requests that this Court decline to address this new legal argument.

If this Court does address the merits of the argument, it is clear that respondent is substantively incorrect to the extent he is arguing that appellant had no right to apply his prison custody credits to his new misdemeanor confinement and parole sentence.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> To the extent that respondent is only asserting that appellant does not earn "pre-sentence" credits for time spent in custody following sentencing and awaiting resentencing (i.e. prison custody) appellant agrees. Appellant had a right to apply both pre- and post- sentence custody credits (actual and conduct) in this case, but those credits were accumulated under separate

Section 1170.18 contemplates a "recall" of the felony sentence and a "resentencing" for the new misdemeanor. When a petitioner has his felony sentence recalled under section 1170.18, subdivision (b), it in fact means that the original felony sentence never happened. (See Pen. Code, § 1170, subd. (d); *Dix v. Superior Court* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 442, 456 [*Dix*].)

In *Dix* this Court explained the general meaning of a recalled sentence under section 1170, subd. (d), which, because of the similarity in language should inform our understanding of the "recall" that occurs under section 1170.18. This Court in *Dix* stated:

By its terms, section 1170(d) empowers a trial court to recall and vacate a prison sentence after commitment...[P] Once have validly and commitment the sentence recalled, section 1170(d) authorizes the court to 'resentence. . . in the same manner as if [the defendant] had not previously been sentenced . . .' Insofar as it is not limited by other phrases in the subdivision, the 'as if' language indicates that the resentencing authority conferred by section 1170(d) is as broad as that possessed by the court when the original sentence was pronounced. [P] The statute makes resentencing power narrower than original sentencing power in only two ways. First, the resentence may not exceed the original sentence. Second, the court must award credit for time served on the original sentence. (Dix at p. 456; bold added.)

statutes and do not overlap. (See *People v. Buckhalter* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 20, 23-24 [In resentencing a defendant on remand from appeal the trial court must separately calculate the pre-sentence custody credits (actual and conduct) and post-sentence actual credits under their respective systems and the period served while awaiting resentencing qualifies as prison custody – not pre-sentence custody for purposes of awarding conduct credits.].)

In light of the above authority, what happens in a section 1170.18 sentencing hearing is that the felony sentence is recalled, a new misdemeanor sentence is imposed, and a new period of parole is ordered. As stated above, at the new sentencing hearing, "the court must award credit for time served on the original sentence." (*Dix* at p. 456.) This accords with clearly established law, under a variety statutes, that when a defendant is re-sentenced for a previous conviction he has the right to apply all forms of custody credit to that new sentence – not just his original presentence custody credit. (See *People v. Buckhalter* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 20, 23-24, 29; *People v. Saibu* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1005, 1012.)

Finally, as cogently stated by Couzens & Bigelow, "[t]he purpose of section 1170.18 is to take the defendant back to the time of the original sentencing and resentence him with the Proposition 47 count now a misdemeanor." (See Couzens & Bigelow, Proposition 47 "The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act," 2/3/15 revision, p. 59.) The statute contemplates a recall of the felony sentence, not a partial modification. (§ 1170.18, subd. (b.) Because the court was sentencing appellant anew, it was required to award him all of his earned and accrued credits – not just his pre-sentence custody credits.

#### E. The order terminating appellant's parole was not appealed by the People and is therefore not before this Court on review.

Respondent asserts that the trial court's July 25, 2015, order awarding appellant additional credit and terminating his parole was unauthorized because the Court of Appeal had jurisdiction over the matter at that time. (OBM 7, fn 5.) Respondent also asks this Court to remand the case to the Court of Appeal to consider that order. (OBM 16.) These claims have been forfeited and are not properly before this Court on review.

First and foremost, the People did not appeal the order terminating parole and awarding additional credit to appellant. Therefore, the People have forfeited any opportunity to assert procedural error as to those orders.<sup>6</sup> To the extent the People wished to argue that the July, 25, 2015, orders were unauthorized, they should have filed for appellate review.

Waiting to raise the propriety of the trial court's order for the first time in this Court, without any record of the proceedings, is not the proper remedy. This is because reviewing courts are not fact-finding courts and therefore do not function to decide questions of fact or make legal rulings in the first instance. (1 Eisenberg et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Civil Appeals & Writs (¶ 8:1 et seq. (rev. # 1, 2010); Stinnett v. Tam (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Respondent is fully aware of the fact that numerous nearly identical orders were issued in a variety of Orange County cases following the issuance of the opinion in this case. As far as appellate counsel knows the People did not appeal any of those orders.

1412, 1435.)

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